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*            *            * 1

CHAIRWOMAN JONES:  Next, we'll recognize any 2

persons wishing to address the board.  Anyone here 3

wishing to address the board today?  4

MR. NICHOLS:  (Indicating.)5

CHAIRWOMAN JONES:  Yes.6

MR. NICHOLS:  Good morning.  I'm here to 7

speak on the matter that pertains to Northgate and CBL, 8

if that's okay?9

CHAIRWOMAN JONES:  Sure.10

THE COURT REPORTER:  What is your name, sir?11

MR. NICHOLS:  My first name is Kyle, and my 12

last name is Nichols.  N-i-c-h-o-l-s.13

I grew up in Middle Valley, and when I was a 14

kid, my friends and I would go to Northgate with my papaw 15

every day after school.  16

When I grew older, on the weekends, Northgate 17

was where your mom dropped you off for hours with your 18

friends.  I bought all my Christmas presents at the 19

Dollar Tree specifically.  And Hixson had a center and 20

that center was Northgate.  21

It's been over 50 years since Northgate first 22

opened.  I don't know anything about pipes or sewer 23

systems, but I do know that me and my friends who grew up 24

in this area are ready for the Northgate area to be a 25
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center of Hixson again.  1

We can see it all over town for right now.  2

In the last two weeks, if you're on the internet, you'll 3

see pictures of equalization tanks on I-75 with people 4

constantly asking why we're building swimming pools off 5

the side of the highway.  6

I know this body is no doubt aware of 7

historical and still will come challenges from the 8

City-owned -- City-owned sewer infrastructure overall 9

company. 10

By my reading, CBL are the ones putting up 11

the money and taking the risk for this project.  The City 12

doesn't cut a check unless the work's done and verified.  13

If they don't do the job, they don't get paid back, just 14

simple as that.  15

To me, that's a prime example of partnership 16

to get something important fixed.  It's the kind of 17

commonsense deal that moves a community forward instead 18

of keeping it stuck.19

We have seen this work with the new Lookouts 20

stadium and the one in East Ridge.  These are areas that 21

are not just going to grow, but they will and have been 22

transformed.  23

So my thought is simple:  When someone steps 24

up to fix a long-standing problem in a way that the 25
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public is protected and benefits a community, we have to 1

say yes because doing nothing is always the costliest 2

choice in the end.  Thank you.  3

MS. SHARP:  I have some comments relative to 4

the Northgate TIF.  Would you like them now or at the 5

public hearing?  6

CHAIRWOMAN JONES:  Well, the next agenda item 7

is the public hearing.  8

MS. BURNS:  I will.  Thank you.9

CHAIRWOMAN JONES:  Is there anyone else 10

wishing to address the board?  11

(No response.)12

CHAIRWOMAN JONES:  Okay.  The next agenda 13

item is a public hearing on the Economic Impact Plan for 14

the Northgate Mall infrastructure project.  So we will 15

have a public hearing. 16

MR. NOBLETT:  And you want to read the 17

resolution. 18

CHAIRWOMAN JONES:  Okay.  So a resolution of 19

the Industrial Development Board of the City of 20

Chattanooga approving an Economic Impact Plan for the 21

Northgate Infrastructure Project and authorizing the  22

submission of such plan for the City of Chattanooga, 23

Tennessee. 24

MS. ALLEN:  Good morning, board.  We have two 25
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presentations.  I will quickly go over the City 1

presentation, and then we will call CBL up to follow up 2

with their presentation.  3

MR. NOBLETT:  Do you want the public to 4

speak?  5

MS. ALLEN:  Would you like the public to 6

speak now?  7

MR. NOBLETT:  That's what I was wondering.  8

Do you want the public to speak first, or do you want 9

them to speak after the presentation?  It may be helpful 10

if they do it after the presentation.  Yes.  11

MS. ALLEN:  There we go.  (Indicating.)  12

MR. RODGERS:  Phil, if I may, I actually 13

prefer the other way, that way Charita and CBL could 14

respond to the public comment to the extent they felt 15

necessary. 16

MR. NOBLETT:  I guess the only issue is they 17

may not know exactly what's being proposed until this 18

presentation goes on forward on there.  19

MR. RODGERS:  Fair enough, too.  20

MR. NOBLETT:  I have no objection to Charita 21

and her folks being able to come up at the end on here to 22

respond on that end.  At least -- that way, at least 23

everyone will know what we're talking about on the front. 24

MR. RODGERS:  Okay.25
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MS. ALLEN:  Okay.  How would you like to 1

proceed? 2

MR. RODGERS:  Phil swayed me, so...3

(Laughter.)  4

MS. ALLEN:  Very good.  Okay.  Members of the 5

IDB, Charita Allen, Senior Advisor for Economic & 6

Workforce Development for the City of Chattanooga.  Most 7

of you will have seen this presentation.  This may be the 8

sixth time for some of you.  So, for consistency, we are 9

repeating it as well.  10

I will quickly go over just, roughly, six or 11

seven slides here.  So this is a proposed Northgate Mall 12

infrastructure TIF.  It's different from our other TIFs, 13

in that there is not a vertical construction component to 14

it against which to weigh the incentive.  15

And so, as we look at this, we are looking at 16

it from the City's vested interest, looking at preserving 17

public health, accessing private capital.  Again, it goes 18

back to the earlier comment from our resident, Hixson 19

resident, Middle Valley resident, who said, you know, 20

this is a developer-backed TIF.  21

It's not a City-backed TIF.  The City is not 22

bonding this.  The developer is handling the financing, 23

and then the increment will reimburse the developer for 24

the construction.  25
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Again, it's accelerating the project 1

timeline.  It's a private system.  Were this to be a 2

public system, the City would have to put it in its 3

capital budget and plan for this redevelopment.4

Again, accelerating the project timeline, 5

this is the developer who is able to do a project quicker 6

than the City would be able to do it.7

Shared risk, public-private partnership, we 8

have done these before.  There's an economic development 9

component, which is preserving the existing property 10

taxes, preserving the existing sales taxes, and putting 11

infrastructure in place to lead to future growth, and, 12

again, enhancing future revenue stream. 13

This is the proposed TIF boundary area, as we 14

look at it.  And, again, we are looking at replacing and 15

upgrading outdated infrastructure.  The infrastructure is 16

currently operational, again, but it's restricted as far 17

as the type of additional development that could happen 18

because it is aging.  So, again, it's currently working, 19

but if we want additional highest-and-best-use 20

development, the system would need to be replaced.21

Achieving a vision of a town center, as -- 22

the developer will speak to you shortly.  We're in a 23

situation where we've had, roughly, five or six malls 24

across the state of Tennessee that have looked at using 25
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TIFs and approved TIFs for redevelopment of their 1

secondary enclosed malls.  2

So, again, if you think of Hamilton Place as 3

our primary closed mall -- enclosed mall, this would be a 4

secondary mall that's proposed for redevelopment, which 5

would make it more of a town center format.  6

And, again, a newer sewer and infrastructure 7

would be dedicated to the City upon completion.  8

Public-private partnerships, we have done 9

these type of TIFs before.  If you look at Blue Goose 10

Hollow, which was an expansion of M.L.  King, Martin 11

Luther King Boulevard, across Riverfront Parkway into the 12

Blue Goose Hollow Trailhead, again, this was a situation 13

where a developer was working on a project, it went to 14

the Land Development Office with plans for approval and 15

someone in our Chattanooga Department of Transportation, 16

CDOT, basically saw it and said, "Hey, just so you know, 17

there's always this vision to preserve access for the 18

public to the Riverwalk.  Would you consider a 19

public-private partnership where the City would gain 20

access for the portion of this road to preserve access?"21

So, again, that was, roughly, a $3.3 million 22

TIF that paid for the infrastructure to preserve public 23

benefit.  24

Again, Access Road TIF, I think this board 25
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heard about this TIF at the last meeting, and, again, 1

that was a private developer working on a project, the 2

project happened to coincide with the intersection where 3

the City knew it wanted to have some improvements made, 4

but it was not in the capital budget, so part of the 5

project was, "Hey, developer, while you're developing 6

this project and you're doing some additional things on 7

it, would you consider straightening Soccer Road, adding 8

additional signals so that folks that are using public 9

amenities can make a left turn out of the complex safely 10

using sidewalk and intersection?"  11

So, again, another public-private 12

partnership.  And it only works if it's a win-win for 13

both parties. 14

Project alignment, typically -- and we did 15

have someone from the Application Review Committee ask 16

us, you know, "Why this project?  Why not some other 17

project?  What prevents any developer from coming to the 18

table and saying, 'Hey, I want a TIF'"?  19

One of the first things that we do in the 20

Department of Economic Development, along with our 21

economic development partners in our ecosystem, is we 22

look at approved plans that have been put together by 23

Chattanooga Chamber of Commerce, put together by our 24

local Regional Planning Agency.25
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Again, if there's an approved plan where the 1

community has provided input, the community has pointed 2

to what they would like to see happen in their respective 3

area, and those are adopted by a council or adopted by a 4

legislative body, those types of projects rise to the top 5

when it comes to looking at and reviewing proposed public 6

financing for infrastructure.  7

So, again, looking at the proposed Northgate 8

Mall TIF, it appeared in a 2003 regional plan and then, 9

most recently, it was appearing in a draft 2024 plan for 10

the Hixson-Red Bank area that specifically spells out 11

facility redevelopment of Northgate Mall and surrounding 12

commercial area into a compact walkable town center.  So 13

that's kind of why this has come to the table for us. 14

And then, again, here are some other malls 15

throughout the state of Tennessee that have utilized TIFs 16

to redevelop some of their secondary malls.  Again, 17

different -- different -- when I say different use of a 18

TIF increment, so one of the malls had already been 19

abandoned, was acquired by a developer, and the TIF was 20

used for demolition, straight demolition.  21

Another one was looking at an existing mall 22

and putting in additional vertical construction.  That 23

increment went for that.  24

So, again, we're talking about TIF increment 25
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for this particular project that would be only for 1

infrastructure.  2

And then, again, let's look at the 3

discretionary piece when we talk about the TIF increment 4

piece.  So if you look at this particular graph, the 5

green is a baseline.  So all current property taxes that 6

are being paid will continue to be paid.  They will 7

continue to be remitted to the City and the County.  8

As development happens, that incremental 9

growth, those new taxes that come in, that's that orange 10

piece, that's what's at play here.  That's a 11

discretionary piece, where, again, baseline taxes will 12

remain to be paid.  But it's looking at that incremental 13

piece, "Is this project" -- you know, I'm using the word 14

"worthy" here -- "Is this project worthy of public 15

investment of that incremental development?"  And so 16

that's what's at play here. 17

This is the timeline.  If you were to look at 18

sort of this seven-step process, we are currently at step 19

five, and then we have two steps remaining.  This was a 20

project that was put -- this was a process that was put 21

in place years ago to provide full transparency and 22

clarity around how TIFs get approved.  23

And so it involved -- again, this board has 24

heard this, this will be the third time coming to this 25
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particular board.  City Council will have heard it two 1

times and will hear it again.  2

And so, again, it's that looking at the 3

application:  Is the application complete?  Moving the 4

application forward.  Reviewing the application.  Looking 5

at the EIP.6

And so where we are today is this step that 7

is the public hearing by the IDB and comments from the 8

community on the Economic Impact Plan and what that looks 9

like.  10

And, again, we went through a process where, 11

when the application was made, the developer asked for  12

three waivers.  Two of those waivers were granted, and 13

the third waiver was for the "but for."  14

The developer asked for a waiver of the "but 15

for" requirement on this particular TIF.  Staff 16

recommended that waiver only because the "but for," as we 17

have historically used it in the City of Chattanooga, the 18

"but for" has been used on TIFs that involve vertical 19

development.  20

So if you are looking at a 21

hundred-million-dollar project and the TIF is only 22

allowed to be 15 percent of the total amount of that 23

project, you've got something against which to compare it 24

and do that ratio.25
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Because this did not involve vertical, we 1

were asking for a waiver of that because this is straight 2

infrastructure and it's a little different in how we 3

calculate.  The internal rate of return is a little 4

different on a straight infrastructure project.5

We asked for the waiver.  It was not granted.  6

And we did go through the process of securing a "but for" 7

agreement.  That was emailed to all the members.  We 8

received it at 4:30 on Friday, maybe, and so we have 9

that.  And our goal was to have that by this public 10

hearing, so we did that.  We do have copies in case 11

members would like to see a hard copy of that.  12

And so I will have our outside TIF attorney 13

speak to the "but for" agreement as it relates to the 14

Economic Impact Plan that this board will be reviewing 15

and voting whether to move forward to City Council for 16

consideration.17

I will have Mark Mamantov come up.  He will 18

speak to the "but for" agreement, and he has a couple of 19

slides that he will present as well. 20

MR. MAMANTOV:  Can we go to my slides?  Not 21

that one, Maria.  Under there...  There we go.  There I 22

am.  23

MS. ALLEN:  Thanks, Rick. 24

MR. MAMANTOV:  Thank you.  Hi, I'm Mark 25
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Mamantov.  I know most of y'all.  It's great to see 1

y'all.  Great to see your new member.  Mr. Goldberg is 2

one of the first folks I started working with here in 3

beautiful Chattanooga.  It's always a real pleasure to 4

come in front of this board.  I really enjoy it.5

We have been helping the City work through  6

this TIF request.  And I'm going to cover -- I'm going to 7

talk about the "but for" analysis, but I'm going to talk 8

a little bit about the plan because that's what you're 9

actually voting on today, whether to send it back to City 10

Council.  11

So the plan was in your agenda package.  It 12

is fairly straightforward in many ways, but it is the 13

legal document.  It's like the Constitution for TIFs.  14

It's the main legal document that you all have to approve 15

it and City Council has to approve it.  If either of you 16

don't, there is no allocation of tax increment revenues.17

I'll try to talk slowly.  I know it's hard 18

for me. 19

And you have to identify the plan area.  You 20

can see the map.  It's basically what you think of 21

historically as Northgate Mall, plus the adjacent 22

out-parcels that are benefited from this public -- not 23

public at the moment, but the sewer system and the water 24

system.  25
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And what's a little bit unique about this 1

project, this Economic Impact Plan, is this past 2

legislative, when we amended the -- when I say "we," I 3

helped a couple of other people.  We drafted an amendment 4

to state law that, basically, says public infrastructure 5

in and of itself is now a project.  Before, I'd have to 6

come to you, like on the Bend, and say, "Hey, here's this 7

project.  They're going to do this and this."8

You no longer have to do that.  Public 9

infrastructure standing alone is a project.  So the 10

project here is this sewer system, water system, 11

stormwater improvements.  Stormwater is explicitly -- 12

even though some of it's privately owned, it's also 13

considered public infrastructure under the applicable 14

statutes.  So that's a little bit different than anything 15

we've done here, and one of the first ones in the state 16

like this.17

And I know Helen's going to speak a little 18

bit to this.  This -- you typically discuss the economic 19

impact of project.  Here, the project is public 20

infrastructure.  It's kind of hard to say how many jobs 21

does a sewer system create.  It's all ancillary, right, 22

to the sewer system?  23

So that's why you don't have a long economic 24

impact analysis such as we had with the stadium where you 25
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had a report with hundreds of pages of projections.  We 1

just don't know.  2

We know there's several hundred jobs in the 3

ring retail center that surround the mall.  If the mall 4

fails and the sewer system fails, those jobs, obviously, 5

would be in jeopardy.  We know that.6

We also don't know exactly what kind of 7

retail will be developed in the future.  It likely will 8

be a mixed-use development, much like (indiscernible) 9

Mall became.  It's probably the best analogy.  All four 10

of those projects I worked on, either did or working on 11

right now.  So if you have any questions on that, what I 12

did, I'm glad to answer them.  13

But the -- it is multi-family housing, which 14

may be one aspect of this project, and it's sort of one 15

of the goals, to make it more of a mixed-use development, 16

which is what most malls of this nature are turning into.  17

And that, obviously, does not create a ton of jobs, but 18

it's a great benefit to the community. 19

So that's why it sort of, as Helen describes 20

it and I think fairly, this is sort of lite on economic 21

impact because of the nature of the project.  Helen's 22

very kind.  She gave me her talking points, and so if 23

y'all go over those, they're very good.  24

What are some other unique things about this?  25
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Well, another change in the law that we did earlier this 1

year is you now can agree on a fixed amount of the 2

increment.  3

Before, you had to -- the City always got its 4

debt service component, which is substantially less than 5

25 percent right now.  So, in other words, if 12 percent 6

of your tax revenues were used to pay debt service on 7

bonds, that was always withheld.  8

So what we worked out -- and when Jermaine 9

and I were working on the TIF policies and working with 10

Charita, basically, you all saw the 75 and 60.  11

Basically, City Council approved waiving the 60 percent 12

for the last ten years, so it's a flat 75 percent of the 13

increment for the entire 20-year period.  14

And consistent with that, you now can 15

disagree on that.  That 25 percent, even if -- no matter 16

what the debt service, doesn't go up and down, it will 17

always be a 25 percent discount -- excuse me -- deduct, 18

which what that means is if it -- it won't happen, but if 19

the debt service portion of your taxes went to 27 20

percent, which would be astronomical in Tennessee, you 21

would only get 25 percent.  But despite it being 22

significantly lower than 25 percent, you will get the 23

full 25 percent for the life of the deal.24

The 20-year allocation period per parcel, 25
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which is fairly typical, and this is also very important, 1

how long do they have to, quote, trigger parcels?  The 2

stadium, we had three years.  3

Here, it's a long project.  They've got 4

several pads.  They've got a long life of redeveloping a 5

mall into a new multi-use development.  And it would be 6

they have till 2033, basically, under this plan to 7

develop parcels to, quote, as I call it, trigger them.8

In other words, that's when the allocation -- 9

because if you start all in one year, it's not worth 10

anything; right?  I mean, because you're not getting any 11

increment in the early years.  So this gives them a 12

period of time to ramp up.  You almost always do this, 13

certainly with new greenfield development.  And this is 14

sort of a hybrid between a greenfield and a tradition 15

redevelopment plan.  16

And, as all of you know, the County chose not 17

to participate in this, which is different, I think, from 18

every one that we've done so far. 19

"But for," so -- and Helen and I have had 20

long discussions.  I know she's been a big proponent of 21

this.  I just want to be really clear.  I'm actually a 22

big proponent of this as well.  In fact, I sort of 23

started this process in Knox County, and we have done -- 24

I've probably done 30 or 40 of these "but for" analyses, 25
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largely they've been done in Knox County.  Very, very few 1

of them have been done elsewhere across the state.2

Most people think that you get the economic 3

impact analysis, they feel like Younger does, which they 4

do a great job, and it tells you, "Okay, you're going to 5

get this amount of tax revenue."  That has nothing to do 6

with the "but for" analysis.  7

It's important because it tells you, "Hey, is 8

this project something that will benefit financially our 9

overall?"  But it doesn't tell you whether the developer 10

actually needs the incentive to make the deal work.  11

Right?  I mean, you don't want to incentivize something 12

that doesn't need it.  13

And so it's a very imperfect way of, 14

basically, kicking the developer's pro forma and looking 15

at them and saying, "Will they get a reasonable return 16

even if we don't give them incentive?  Are they already 17

motivated to do this?"  18

Because lots of developers -- I don't believe 19

CBL is one of them.  They've been really professional 20

throughout this entire project.  But some developers just 21

say, "Hey, I hear that there's an incentive program in 22

your community.  I'm going to stick my hand out and see 23

what I get."  And this sort of kicks the tires to try to 24

avoid providing incentives when they're not really 25
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needed.  1

It's also to say, Guys, look, you've got to 2

understand here, this is really a special event "but for" 3

analysis, because, you know, they're selling parcels.  4

The core of the mall being redeveloped is probably four 5

or five years off.  And you've got a lot of work to do.  6

You've got leases that are still in place.  You've got 7

some great tenants out there they're going to have to 8

work with.  And you're projecting things that will happen 9

in a market that we don't know.  We're doing the best we 10

can.  11

And the CBL guys were great.  They projected 12

what they thought was okay.  We hired the same guy we've 13

been using in Knox County for a long time and he kicked 14

the tires.  I'm sure CBL will tell you he kicked them a 15

little too hard because he's very -- he's totally on your 16

side.  17

He's not on your side at all and gets quite 18

antagonistic as you go through this process, not like 19

anybody was calling anybody names, but they just get 20

really, like, going at it.  And so they both -- you know, 21

it went back and forth and they convinced Thad that some 22

things maybe needed to be tweaked a little.  He convinced 23

them that he wasn't going to do that on certain things.24

And the bottom line is that, basically, 25
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you're looking at, "Okay, if they sell -- if they 1

redevelop the mall and sell pads as they anticipate for 2

some multi-family housing and stuff, what kind of return 3

will they get based on their best estimates?"  4

Well, basically, Thad estimated that if we 5

gave them $7.7 million incentive, basically a grant right 6

now, but it's not they're borrowing them, that's, 7

essentially, the principal amount that you would borrow.  8

It doesn't include the interest because interest is 9

really separate.  If they got a grant of $7.7 million, 10

that would get them to a 12.7 percent return.11

Now, if you look carefully at that report, 12

he'll readily acknowledge that -- his firm's name is 13

Water Street, by the way.  I've known Thad for years, so 14

I'm going to call him Thad.  There's, basically, a range.15

I go to a lot of these things, and developers 16

stand up and tell me, "I don't know what you're talking 17

about.  I don't get out of bed for less than a 25-percent 18

return."  And Thad said, "No, I think a 12 to 20 is sort 19

of what a reasonable real estate investor can be."20

If he went on the higher end of that range, 21

toward 20, it would be significantly higher.  It would be 22

much closer to the $9.2 million that they asked for 23

that's in this plan that's in front of you today.  And we 24

did not change it down to the $7.7 because we need you 25
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all's input and your advice on this, and this is a key 1

decision you're going to need to make.  2

And I'm sure that Jon from CBL will explain 3

sort of why he thinks that it should stay at the higher 4

level.  I'm sure Charita can comment on that as well.  5

But there's just so many assumptions in this.  6

And, again, it's so far out, that we have to guess a lot 7

more than if you had a typical deal where somebody comes 8

to you and says, "Okay, I'm ready to build a Costco and, 9

therefore, I need this incentive.  I want to be out of 10

the ground next year."  It's just a whole lot easier to 11

give you guys a reasonable "but if" analysis.12

We did the best we can.  I think it has a lot 13

of good information in it, but it certainly is a little 14

bit more speculative than would be normal. 15

And I sort of went through all this already.  16

Sorry.  I got ahead of myself.  So, briefly, because I 17

know this question keeps coming up.  Phil and I even 18

talked about it this morning.  There's a lot of 19

discussion and they requested some support.  What's been 20

in the papers and stuff is import through sales tax.21

There's a separate statue totally unrelated 22

to TIFs, that allows the City to support public 23

infrastructure projects with non-ad valorem tax revenues.  24

It's very similar to what we did with the Sports 25
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Authority and the stadium.  And so that is not -- I just 1

want to emphasize -- not in front of you today.  That 2

will be an agreement between you all and the City at some 3

point, but we would take that to the City when this plan 4

goes to the City to see if they support it.5

If they don't support it, the economics of 6

the deal probably don't work for CBL and they will have 7

to retrench.  But you all at this juncture are not being 8

asked to consider whether that's a good idea, whether 9

you're voting on it.  But you need to understand that's 10

sort of probably going to be part of an overall package.  11

This statute largely came out of Memphis.  We 12

used it a little bit across the state.  I think my 13

friend, Betsy, was telling you all -- not you all, but 14

the County about my Buc-ee's project out in West 15

Tennessee where I used that statute to do the sewer and 16

stuff to get to a Buc-ee's.  17

But it is not -- the law, basically, like the 18

-- at the same time it was rewritten to include public 19

infrastructure as a project, we believe that you cannot 20

use it for the stormwater.  It's got to be a 21

publicly-owned asset.  So you cannot use this to support 22

the stormwater portion of this project.  It would only be 23

the water and the sewer.  So that will be coming later to 24

you all.  25
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And I think Helen mentions it in her talking 1

points.  Special assessment is the new hot thing in 2

Tennessee.  We have developers all over the state, and 3

you're going to see them here, wanting to self-assess 4

themselves to pay for largely residential improvements.  5

And we are seeing a lot of requests in the ring 6

communities around Chattanooga, so I'm sure we'll see 7

them here in Chattanooga.8

But, often, it's in the more suburban areas 9

because they have larger tracts of land available for 10

residential and mixed-use development.  11

It's super -- the statutes that we recently 12

drafted to allow this don't fit this project because it's 13

a -- they don't work for existing development.  They're 14

really not intended to.  They're intended for 15

redevelopment.  16

Could you theoretically do a special 17

assessment?  Yes.  Could you get the consensus from all 18

the parties that would be specially assessed to pay for 19

this?  I don't -- from experience from these, I think 20

it's highly, highly, unlikely the folks that are not -- 21

you know, the parcels controlled CBL, they might consider 22

it.  But the other ones -- and what happens, too, is when 23

you specially assess a parcel, it's just a tax on that 24

parcel; right?  So the value of the parcel just went 25
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down, which would then change the "but for" analysis 1

which would say they need a bigger incentive to make it 2

work.  So it's sort of an inverse effect between special 3

assessments and TIFs.4

I think they're very important.  I know Helen 5

will discuss it with you.  To me, it doesn't fit this 6

particular project very well.  So those are my talking 7

points, I believe.8

Today, what you are being asked to do is hold 9

this public hearing.  And I'll shut up.  And, actually, 10

you might hear from the public.  But then you'll be asked 11

to adopt a resolution, if you choose to submit this plan 12

on to City Council -- and the law we also sort of 13

clarified -- you get it to City Council and they say, 14

"No, we don't like the amount, we want to lower it," they 15

can lower it there.  You could lower it right now.  And 16

they could amend the plan.  17

If they amend it at their meeting, it would 18

come back to you to approve it as amended, but you don't 19

have to hold another public hearing, and the previous 20

doesn't start all over again, which is something we 21

clarified in a recent legislation.  Any questions?  22

(No response.) 23

MR. MAMANTOV:  Thank you.  I hope that was 24

helpful. 25
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MR. MESHEL:  Thank you, Mark.  Thank you, 1

Charita.  I'm Jon Meshel.  I work for CBL Properties.  We 2

are the owner of the Northgate Mall.  I appreciate the 3

opportunity to present to you all again this morning and 4

to take a few minutes to clarify some of the key points 5

of the proposal.  6

There's been some confusion about what this 7

project is and what it isn't.  First, the proposed 8

partnership is not an investment into a dying mall or an 9

investment into the current mall structure.10

The enclosed mall in its current format is 11

unsustainable and that will be true regardless of today's 12

outcome.13

The highest and best future use for this 14

property is a mixed-use redevelopment informed by 15

community input.  This proposal is about building a 16

foundation that makes that future possible.17

The highlighted areas on this plan represent 18

future redevelopment opportunities, with the area in 19

yellow representing an immediate opportunity to activate 20

the campus, to improve the campus for the community once 21

the infrastructure project is complete.22

Without this public-private partnership, the 23

inside of the mall will continue its negative trajectory 24

and redevelopment opportunity will be limited by the 25
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existing infrastructure to low-intensity uses, such as 1

self-storage, that add little value to the community.2

The reality is the "but for" is the mall and 3

the related land cannot be redeveloped to its highest and 4

best use without new infrastructure.  5

In addition to being a catalyst for future 6

redevelopment, the proposed public-private partnership 7

fixes a critical public infrastructure problem.  The 8

challenge is that the mall parcel number 13, on the plan 9

on the screen, services the other 13 prop -- maintains 10

private lines and services the private lines that  11

service the 13 other property owners, including 20 12

businesses that collectively employ approximately 400 13

people and serve the community.  Including the businesses 14

inside the main mall, those numbers are much, much 15

higher.  16

Because of when the mall was constructed, the 17

infrastructure system was built and has been owned and 18

maintained by the mall.  Even as the campus has grown, 19

the mall has continued to own and maintain infrastructure 20

that services the city's customers.  21

Over the last two years alone, CBL has 22

invested nearly a million dollars to repair sinkholes, 23

stormwater pipes, and wastewater lines to ensure 24

continuous service for customers that rely on these pipes 25
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to operate their businesses.  1

This system is inadequate to support 2

meaningful redevelopment.  Parcel 13 cannot economically 3

support an infrastructure project for the other 4

properties.  But for this public-private partnership, the 5

property cannot be elevated to what the community 6

deserves.  7

We are ready to partner with the City, fund 8

the upfront cost, and complete the work.  The economic 9

risks will be our responsibility.  As the City described, 10

none of the existing taxes will be used to fund the 11

reimbursement.  The City retains the baseline, as Charita 12

described.  13

As Mr. Mamantov stated, the Water Street 14

public finance report establishes that a public-private 15

partnership is necessary, sets a baseline for that 16

partnership and establishes a range of acceptable return.  17

We want to note that the Water Street model 18

is highly speculative.  I think Mark did a great job of 19

explaining why.  We initially asked for a waiver because 20

the valuation model typically used for TIFs assumes 21

vertical developments and this is an infrastructure-only 22

TIF, as Charita described. 23

The Water Street analysis clearly 24

demonstrates a need for an incentive, and the allowable 25
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range within the incentive calls for a minimum of $7.7 1

million and up to over $9 million.  2

As the City stated, due to the speculative 3

nature of the repot, they continue to support the full 4

amount referenced in the EIP.5

In addition to the model being imperfect for 6

this type of TIF, the model uses a sales transaction 7

timeline that is considered highly aggressive.  Based on 8

the more realistic development and land sale cycle, the 9

2029 and 2030 sale transactions should or could be moved 10

by one to three years.  Doing so, drops the rate of 11

return well below the report's minimum threshold.12

We appreciate that the report illustrates  13

the need for public-private partnership.  And while we 14

generally agree with the inputs used in the model, we 15

urge the board and the City Council to consider the 16

sensitivity of this analysis to allow us, with City staff 17

support, to pursue the amount referenced in the EIP.  18

This project clearly needs the "but if" test, 19

and I want to close with a positive because we believe 20

this is a positive, a true positive for the community.  21

This is an investment into the community, an investment 22

into the existing businesses and jobs outside of the main 23

mall, and an investment into the future of the corridor 24

so that the site can be redeveloped to better serve the 25
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community.  1

Thank you for your time.  I'm happy to answer 2

any questions that anyone has. 3

MR. RODGERS:  Mr. Meshel -- if I may, Madame 4

Chairwoman -- what was the reason the County chose not to 5

participate in this?6

MR. MESHEL:  I really am not in a position to 7

speak for the County.8

MR. RODGERS:  Okay.  I'm just asking you if 9

you know.  Charita, do you know?  10

MS. ALLEN:  Yes, sir, I do know.  So as a 11

City staff responsible for this project, I did not bring 12

it to the County officials in a timely manner.  And so 13

what happened is, when we got ready to put our items on 14

the agenda, because I had not properly briefed them, they 15

did not have time to get all of these overviews that the 16

IDB had been receiving and that City Council had been 17

receiving.  18

So for them, the $1.5 million that the County 19

in property taxes would have contributed to the project 20

over the course of the 20-year TIF, they decided not to 21

pursue it because they had not need been briefed 22

properly, and we were on a time schedule where we needed 23

to start the TIF in order to set the baseline in place.  24

So I take full responsibility for not having 25
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briefed them in enough time to allow them to digest the 1

information before simply adding it to their agenda.  2

Any other questions?  3

(No response.) 4

MS. ALLEN:  Okay.  Thank you.  5

CHAIRWOMAN JONES:  Okay.  We're moving to the 6

public hearing now.  Anybody from the public wish to 7

speak on this subject?  8

MS. SHARP:  Good morning.  My name is Helen 9

Burns Sharp, representing Accountability for Taxpayer 10

Money.  I handed out a copy of my comments, and I'll try 11

to stick to this script to make the best use of your 12

time.13

You're considering this request, obviously, 14

to fund -- for a resolution to fund infrastructure 15

improvements at Northgate Mall.  This key site is 16

important, but it also raises key fiscal and policy 17

questions about timing, fairness, and impact on city 18

taxpayers that need to be addressed.19

Key Points to Consider:  20

Number 1, Budget Priorities:  This TIF 21

district would divert future property tax revenues from 22

general city needs, such as public safety, 23

infrastructure, and parks, toward private reimbursement 24

for up to 20 years, effectively prioritizing one 25
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development's needs over the city's broader obligations. 1

Number 2, Due to previously approved tax 2

incentives, approximately $30 million annually in city 3

and county taxes are currently not collected.  4

Number 3, The City recently approved a 5

significant tax increase.  Committing new revenues to a 6

developer immediately afterward could appear tone-deaf to 7

taxpayers.8

Number 4, Budget Impact:  The City's budget, 9

which was just adopted a couple of months ago, assumed 10

new tax revenues from the Sears site redevelopment.  If 11

this TIF is approved before this year's end, those gains 12

would instead flow to the developer and not to the City. 13

County Opt-Out:  Hamilton County declined to 14

participate in this project, although it participates in 15

six other TIFs.  16

In the case of Northgate, city taxpayers 17

would shoulder the full cost.  18

Number 6, Limited Independent Review:  The 19

consultant's analysis explicitly excluded assessing 20

whether the project needs or deserves public assistance.  21

While that was beyond the scope of their study, it is a 22

key question for City officials to consider when making 23

responsible public investment decisions.24

Number 7, Sales Tax Expansion:  Because the 25

LORI A. ROBERSON, LCR, CCR

LAW REPORTING (423) 505-0909

lawreporting225@gmail.com

33

projected property tax increment won't cover the $15.2 1

million cost, the developers also want to tap into sales 2

tax revenues normally reserved for state-designated 3

brownfield sites.  Would this set a precedent?  4

Economic Impact Plan Lite:  State law 5

requires estimates of jobs and tax benefits.  The plan 6

does not provide either, claiming precise figures cannot 7

be provided.  Given the developer's experience, the lack 8

of projections is surprising and limits accountability.  9

The company representatives did address that issue. 10

A Better Option:  If the City wants to 11

support infrastructure at Northgate, a special assessment 12

district could be explored to ensure those who benefit 13

most, mall owners and adjacent parcels, help pay for it, 14

rather than relying solely on taxpayers.15

First, Mr. Mamantov, who is an expert,  16

obviously, on all of this kind of stuff, said that maybe 17

that concept does not work here and that the out-parcels 18

would probably -- to use the big word -- monstrate 19

against it, they would not be keen, probably, in 20

participating.  So good point, but I think it warrants 21

exploration.22

Let me comment on a couple of things that 23

came up earlier.  Number one, clarify -- I want to 24

clarify that when a new development goes in, whether it's 25
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a subdivision or a shopping center, it is the developer's 1

responsibility to pay for the infrastructure.  2

Okay.  When the predecessor to Northgate -- I 3

believe it Arlen -- kind of related family-wise -- when 4

they did this mall, they chose to do it before this 5

property was in the city, so they put in a private system 6

and, probably, it's not necessarily to City standards. 7

Also an interesting wrinkle in this is that 8

the water -- the City of Chattanooga is not in the water 9

business and they want to replace the water lines.  Well, 10

these are owned by the Hixson Utility District, which, 11

apparently, is a great utility district serving the north 12

part of the county.  13

But it seemed to me like, when we're trying 14

to do a fair distribution of costs, has anybody  15

suggested or asked that maybe they contribute?  That was 16

another one of the reasons I thought an assessment 17

district might be an interesting concept to explore.18

I want to say a little bit about the company 19

in terms of if the question where, "Do you like CBL, and 20

are you proud that they're headquartered in Chattanooga?"  21

I would say, "Yes, yes," immediately and throw in a 22

little personal comment, and that is my older brother, 23

his best friend in high school was Mr. CBL himself..  so 24

I feel a particular connection to these folks and very 25
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proud of all the success they have had.  So there's 1

nothing against -- anything against them.2

I ran across a quote a long time ago that's 3

stayed with me, and it was -- it is that we need to find 4

the wisdom to know and the courage to defend the public 5

interest. 6

And, you know, we kind of focus on the 7

courage to defend.  But the wisdom to know?  I mean, 8

these questions are not easy, and that's why I had talked 9

to you folks and to elected officials.  I mean, this is 10

not easy.  You do lots of good points, from what they 11

said earlier.  Hopefully, maybe some of what I've raised 12

makes you kind of think, or whatever.13

So, anyway, thank you for your service and 14

trying to come up with the right answers.15

Before approving this TIF, consider does the 16

proposed project need or deserve public assistance?  If 17

so, how much?  Is the public return clear and measurable?  18

Are we protecting core city revenues and priorities?  And 19

is there a fairness to achieve the same goal?20

Northgate's future matters, so does fiscal 21

responsibility.  Thank you. 22

CHAIRWOMAN JONES:  Thank you.  23

MR. WOOD:  Good morning.  Charles Wood with 24

the Chattanooga Area Chamber of Commerce.  I just want to 25
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touch on a couple of things.  One, there is a little bit 1

or irony in kind of this project.  So, as Helen 2

mentioned, the mall was developed before it was in the 3

city limits.  That includes the infrastructure, some of 4

which normally would be owned today by the City.  5

If you think about the sewer infrastructure 6

that's there, the City annexed the property, the City has 7

collected significant sales tax off of the property -- 8

property tax off of the property.  And, typically, that 9

infrastructure would have been dedicated after 10

development back to the City for maintenance for sewer.  11

And not necessarily for all, but, as Helen mentioned 12

rightly, Hixson Utility District's own water and that 13

kind of thing.14

But there's been a pretty significant amount 15

of revenue that's been captured as part of this 16

development by the City after they annexed the property.  17

But, during that entire time, the infrastructure has 18

actually continued to be owned by the private sector.  So 19

it's a little bit interesting to kind of see how this has 20

played out over time. 21

In this case, I think there's kind of two 22

pieces to this.  One is bringing it back to a point where 23

it would be a -- it would operate a bit more like we're 24

used to in other parts of the community, where 25
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infrastructure gets developed and then it gets turned 1

back over to the public entity that would own it.2

And then the second is kind of a defensive 3

play; right?  So there's a risk around this property if 4

we do nothing.  And so I think those are kind of the two 5

pieces to think about.  6

Usually, when this body sees me, there is 7

something really flashy that comes with it; right?  8

There's a new company that might locate here.  In the 9

case of the stadium, there's a really incredible adaptive 10

reuse project that goes with it.  But sometimes economic 11

development, frankly, isn't flashy.  12

Sometimes it's stormwater and it's sewer and 13

it's other infrastructure that you don't see; right?  It 14

exists under the ground, and that's just reality.  In 15

this case, that's kind of the way this project is.16

So I think, as we look at this, there is some 17

risk in what could happen on this site if there isn't 18

investment that happens in the infrastructure, and 19

they're certainly adding significant and potential -- and 20

I think the first gentleman who spoke, who lives in the 21

area, recognizes there is a significant amount of 22

potential of what can happen on this site.  It's a very 23

large piece of property in a pretty suburban area with a, 24

you know, I don't know, six-lane highway out front, and 25
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so certainly some opportunity there to create really an 1

entirely new experience from a community standpoint, and 2

I think rebuilds the center of economic gravity in the 3

region.  4

So we are excited about the project.  I've 5

had the opportunity to learn a little bit more about it.  6

I think, certainly, if you look at -- if you look at mall 7

redevelopments around the country, which is a pretty 8

common theme right now around the U.S., this is a good 9

example of kind of a path towards redevelopment for an 10

existing shopping center that's faded over time.  So 11

thank you so much. 12

CHAIRWOMAN JONES:  Thank you. 13

MS. GOODEN:  My name is Janice Gooden.  I 14

have a couple of perspectives.  For one, I work with 15

CALEB, which is a nonprofit.  I'm one of the co-chairs 16

for the Economic Mobility Task Force.  17

So we had the opportunity to work along with 18

Ms. Helen Burns Sharp to have input to the TIF and the 19

PILOT policies.  So I appreciate the process and having 20

the opportunity to make comments. 21

But my other preceptive is, as a community 22

member, I grew up in Riverside-Amnicola area, which was 23

also annexed in the early '70s, and it's a little 24

alarming to know that, in Hixson, the infrastructure is 25
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as it is.  I mean, it's really a shock to me. 1

But I know that this is a good opportunity, 2

you know, for the upgrades.  The Northgate Mall, you 3

know, that has been my go-to place.  Even though I lived 4

away for a number of years, but when I moved back 10 5

years ago, it was okay, but I seen the decline.  So I 6

would appreciate it being able to thrive.  7

But on the other side, I do have some 8

concerns.  It does need to have -- this project does need 9

to have benefit for the community.  So is it in line with 10

the Hixson-Red Bank plan?  There needs to be some benefit 11

for the community.  12

But another factor will be are the 13

boundaries, the TIF boundaries, broad enough that it 14

would be able to cover any other development that would 15

be coming?  Will there be another request in a month or 16

so of another developer requesting the same thing?  17

So those are some of the concerns that I 18

have.  But I would like to see that area thrive again.  19

Thank you. 20

CHAIRMAN JONES:  Thank you. 21

MS. MANNARINO:  Good morning.  My name is 22

Christa Mannarino, and I live in the Stuart Heights area.  23

I served on the TIF Application Review Committee as a, I 24

guess, private citizen and learned a lot about this 25
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project.  1

I grew up in Chattanooga and attended Hixson 2

High School in the '80s.  Yes, I'm old.  But back in 3

those days, Northgate was the only entertainment we had.  4

We shopped.  We hung out with friends.  And we were 5

thrilled with the addition of the very first Chick-fil-A 6

in Chattanooga.  7

Keep in mind, this was before the North 8

Shore.  It was before downtown and other popular 9

gathering places that we are fortunate to have today.  10

But I do have concerns about if we don't go 11

forward with this.  I work in the Brainerd area, and East 12

Towne Mall has really -- or Eastgate Mall has changed so 13

much, and I realize it does provide office space and  14

it's great, but as a cultural kind of hub for Brainerd,  15

it is no longer that.  So Northgate is heading that way 16

at this point in time, and it's a shadow of what it once 17

was.  18

So, I'm grateful to CBL for taking on this 19

project in partnership with the City.  And I do 20

appreciate the comments of my fellow citizens and hearing 21

their standpoint and concerns.  22

But I do think that this project is a good 23

investment and it could help us see a revitalization in 24

the heart of Hixson, and the Northgate Mall area and 25
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surrounding businesses.  Thank you. 1

CHAIRWOMAN JONES:  Thank you.2

MR. TAYLOR:  Good afternoon.  My name is Greg 3

Taylor, and I want to express my support for this project 4

and partnership.  And I also served on the TIF Committee 5

and I learned a great deal about kind of the history and 6

the problems and potential remedies.  And, again, I want 7

to express my support.  8

I serve as the president of 9

Valleybrook-Windbrook and Tuscany Place Homeowners 10

Association.  This HOA has about 278 homes and over 600 11

members.  And, of course, Valleybrook's always been an 12

extremely important part of the Hixson community for 13

many, many years.14

I'm also the president of Friends of Hixson, 15

which is a 501(c)(3) organization that serves as a 16

neighbor association, really, for the Hixson community.  17

I'm also president of Hixson's Kiwanis Club.  And in 18

these capacities, I hear from tons of people all the time 19

every day.  And, of course, one of the biggest questions 20

I'm always asked is what's going to happen to Northgate?  21

Everybody is concerned about that because it's obvious, 22

you know, that it's not what it used to be.  And as 23

previously stated, it was such a vibrant part of our 24

community.  25
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The private utility serving the mall and 1

nearby businesses need upgrading to meet current public 2

standards.  The infrastructure urgently requires 3

improvements.  We know this because we drive by it all 4

the time and see and hear about water outages at the 5

mall.  We see the construction going on where there's  6

sinkholes, which cause traffic delays and all kind of 7

problems like that.  We see the utility repairs.  So it's 8

pretty obvious that things need to be fixed and repaired 9

for this mall to survive. 10

It's my understanding that CBL is willing to 11

provide the support needed to upgrade its infrastructure 12

to current standard.  This partnership that we are 13

talking about today, these updates benefit local 14

businesses and lay a foundation for future development at 15

this site.  16

Many Hixson residents want the area to be 17

again the heart of the community with a bright future.  18

And this will not happen, frankly, without these upgrades 19

as discussed this morning.20

MR. QUEEN:  I've got a few words.  I'm a 21

founder of the Friends of Hixson.22

THE COURT REPORTER:  What is your name, sir?23

MR. QUEEN:  I'm David Queen.  And I have a 24

CPA and investment practice in Hixson.  I'm a resident of 25

LORI A. ROBERSON, LCR, CCR

LAW REPORTING (423) 505-0909

lawreporting225@gmail.com

43

Hixson.  We started Friends of Hixson to make our 1

community a better place to live, work and play.  And we 2

try to encourage business owners, political people, 3

individuals, to step up to do that.  And I see that here, 4

that we do have a problem that pre-annexation of this 5

property, you know, was not part of Chattanooga, so 6

therefore there's a private system.  7

The point was made that we have been paying 8

property taxes for sewer improvements and maintenance for 9

I don't know long.  How many years?  When was Hixson 10

annexed?  11

MR. NOBLETT:  '73, I believe.12

MR. FLOYD:  '73 or '74.  13

MR. QUEEN:  So all this money, you know, I 14

have been paying as a business owner, as a resident, has 15

not been going into improving or fixing the system.  It's 16

been going to other parts of the city, which is -- you 17

know, I am a city person, but all those -- again, those 18

resources were not used for Hixson.  19

And I feel like this is a good partnership 20

whereas CBL is going to step in, improve this, take that 21

risk from future property increases if they improve the 22

property, and I just think that's a better thing for our 23

Hixson community.  I think bringing in better businesses, 24

a better quality of life, I mean, I just think it's a 25
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great idea.  So, again, Friends of Hixson, I think a lot 1

of people that I know are very supportive.  Thank you. 2

CHAIRWOMAN JONES:  Anyone else wishing to 3

speak during the public hearing?  4

(No response.) 5

CHAIRWOMAN JONES:  Okay.  Great.  We will 6

close the public hearing.  I will read the resolution 7

again.  8

A resolution of the Industrial Development 9

Board of the City of Chattanooga approving an Economic 10

Impact Plan for the Northgate Mall Infrastructure Project 11

and authorizing the submission of such plan to the City 12

of Chattanooga, Tennessee.  13

Anybody on the board have any comments?  14

MR. RODGERS:  Madame Chairwoman, I would be 15

curious, if you will permit, for Charita to maybe step 16

back up.  I just want to ask -- I appreciate your candor 17

very much.  But what I'm confused a bit by is, based on 18

what you said, is why the rush, in the sense of why don't 19

we give the County the opportunity now to step in, 20

participate?  21

MS. ALLEN:  The reason why we are moving 22

forward with this particular timeline is to set in place 23

the base sales -- the base property tax year.  And so 24

that's why we are moving with -- we started in October 25
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and the final -- the proposed final vote will be in 1

December, is to lock in the tax base year for this 2

particular TIF.  3

So if we moved it to -- if we delay it, it 4

moves into the next year, we're moving into a different 5

base year, which then reduces the available increment.  6

And so that's why we are looking at this year. 7

MR. RODGERS:  Okay.  And what about -- thank 8

you for that.  What about -- what's the administration's 9

thought on specifically Ms. Sharp's budget impact concern 10

number four?  11

MS. ALLEN:  We did have our finance 12

department look at the budget impact.  It was, roughly, 13

$89,000, as I recall, as it related to that. 14

MR. RODGERS:  So there would be, what are you 15

saying, a loss to the City of $89,000?16

MS. ALLEN:  The $89,000 would be a loss to 17

the City.  That would go -- that increment would go 18

towards repayment of the infrastructure.  Correct. 19

MR. RODGERS:  Okay.  And what about the last 20

-- Madame Chairwoman.  I'm curious.21

MS. ALLEN:  Oh, no I appreciate the 22

questions.  Thank you.  23

MR. RODGERS:  The lack of involvement here, 24

from what I hear from Hixson Utility District, what's  25
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their take on that?1

MS. ALLEN:  I did reach out to the Hixson 2

Utility District.  And so, as with all capital projects, 3

for instance, the City of Chattanooga had a capital 4

budget and that capital budget is composed of proposed 5

projects for future investment.  That planning takes 6

place years ahead of time.  7

And so, typically, what happens is, for 8

instance, we have a capital budget, if a TIF project 9

comes forward, the first thing we do is check to see 10

whether the proposed infrastructure is already included 11

in the capital budget.  If it is, we move forward with 12

the capital budget and do not pursue a TIF.  13

So, for instance, with the M.L. King project, 14

that was not in the capital budget, so we moved forward 15

with the TIF.  With the proposed project that was Access 16

Road, with the signaling and the straightening of Soccer 17

Road, that also was not in the capital plan.  So, again, 18

we moved forward with a TIF.  It's the same with the 19

Hixson Utility District.  20

So when I called and spoke to the general 21

manager, the director, and asked whether they were aware 22

of the project, briefed them on the project, briefed them 23

on the timeline, briefed them on the associated costs for 24

the water -- the proposed water line upgrade, and then 25
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asked them what was in their capital project for that 1

plan, they did not have Northgate Mall water line in 2

their capital budget for the next three to five years for 3

improvement.  4

So, again, if we are looking at a 5

time-sensitive project related to a developer that is 6

already at the table, that was not in their capital plan, 7

which meant they were supportive of the project, willing 8

to do whatever they needed to do on their side as far as 9

assisting with drawings, assisting with meters, all of 10

those other things, assisting with any approval, but they 11

did not have it in their budget to participate fiscally 12

in this particular project.  13

MR. RODGERS:  Last question, if I may, what 14

is -- from what you know about this project, why the 15

maximum 20 years versus, let's say, 10 or 15?  Why would 16

a lesser term not be more palatable from the City's 17

perspective?18

MS. ALLEN:  It's to capture that increment 19

because we're dealing with such a small -- because we're 20

dealing with a smaller district.  It's we're dealing with 21

a smaller district, which means we want to capture that 22

increment, but we're taking a longer period to capture it 23

as opposed to drawing a bigger district and capturing 24

more property taxes and doing a shorter term.25
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MR. RODGERS:  Thank you.  1

MS. ALLEN:  Thank you for the questions. 2

MR. PARKER:  Madame Chair?  3

CHAIRWOMAN JONES:  (Indicating.)4

MR. PARKER:  Charita, if you could, with a 5

couple of these, on one of the early slides, it looked 6

like there was an outline of the sewer map.  Is all of 7

that being replaced, or is just bits and pieces?  And 8

then who will own all of that at the end?  And then what 9

about future maintenance of those lines?  10

MS. ALLEN:  Okay.  Three questions there.  So 11

the core of the infrastructure -- and I'll have CBL 12

correct me if I'm wrong -- but the core of the 13

infrastructure, which is at the heart of the mall, that 14

is going to be replaced.  There are -- that drawing shows 15

some laterals.  Some of those laterals are newer and will 16

not require replacement.  So that's on that one.17

On the other piece, it's related to the  18

redevelopment or replacement.  Once that's complete, that 19

will be dedicated to the City.  And, at that point, the 20

City will maintain those improvements.  But, again, they 21

will be maintaining improvements on a new system.  22

There was one other question, I think.23

MR. PARKER:  No.  That got all three.24

MS. ALLEN:  Okay.  25
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MR. RODGERS:  Good job.1

MS. ALLEN:  Thank you.2

CHAIRWOMAN JONES:  I know we had two members 3

of our IDB board to serve on the review committee, so any 4

comments you all have?  5

MS. KAIN:  No.  I did make a note that we 6

have had five comments in favor of the project today, so 7

that's encouraging to hear, especially on the Friends of 8

Hixson.  9

I really appreciated the one comment from Ms. 10

Burns today, on the TIF boundary idea.  There was 11

something that came up within the committee meeting, 12

referred to this was to incorporate green spaces and 13

perhaps a library since they're in such close proximity.  14

So I didn't know.  Again, you've got a TIF boundary.  It 15

looks like it really is right on that roadway that's 16

there.17

MS. ALLEN:  It does include -- it does 18

include the Northgate library. 19

MS. KAIN:  Okay.  I think that was my only 20

question.  Thank you. 21

MR. FLOYD:  It was a good review with 22

everyone with the committee.  It was extremely 23

productive.  I think, you know, a lot of items that were 24

discussed today were reviewed there.  S, I think this is 25
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a  ve ry  good  th ing . 1

C H A IR W O M A N  JO N E S : O kay . Any  o th e r com m en ts?   2

M R . R O D G E R S : A n d  I th in k  m o re  so , M adam e  3

Cha irw om an , fo r  the  C ity A tto rn ey ,  m y  ques tion  is , in  4

par t, ba sed  on  w ha t I  am hea r ing  a s  fa r as  th e  p la n  no t 5

in co rpo ra ting  a  d iscu ss ion  o f th e  jobs  c rea tio n , does  6

tha t com p ly  w ith  w hat  w e  a re  supposed  to  do  unde r sta te  7

law  th a t says  w e  sha ll, th e  p la n  sha ll d is cuss  expected  8

bene fits  in c lu d ing  jobs  c rea ted?   D oes  th is  p lan  m ee t 9

tha t requ irem en t?  10

M R . N O B LETT : Yes , in so far  a s  if  w e  do  no t 11

have  th is  stru ctu re in p la ce.  I  th ough t th ere  w a s a  12

d iscuss ion  abou t 4 0 0  jobs  th a t w ou ld  b e  lo s t and  the re  13

w ou ld  be  th e m a in tenance  o f those  job s in its  con t in u ing .  14

If th e re 's  a d iffe ren t type  o f s tru ctu re go ing  fo rw a rd  15

he re  th a t does  no t con tinue  to  resu lt in jo bs  a s  a  m a ll 16

a rea , tha t  cou ld  be  an  issu e . 17

C H A IR W O M A N  JO N E S : O kay . I w ill en te r ta in  a  18

m otion  if th ere  is  no  m ore  d is cuss ion . 19

M R . F LO YD : W e ll, I  m ake  a  m o tio n  th a t w e  20

app rove  th e  re so lu tion  app rov ing  the  E conom ic Im pac t P la n  21

fo r  the  N or thga te  M a ll in fra s tru ctu re p ro jec t  and  22

au tho riz in g  th a t su bm is s ion  o f the  p la n  to  t he  C ity  23

Counc il. 24

C H A IR W O M A N  JO N E S : The re  is  a m otion . Is  25
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the re  a  second?  1

M S . K A IN : I ca n  se cond . 2

C H A IR W O M A N  JO N E S : The re  is  a m otion  and  3

prope rly seconded . A ll those  in  fa vo r?4

(U nan im ous  response . ) 5

C H A IR W O M A N  JO N E S : Any  opposed?   6

(N o  response .)7

C H A IR W O M A N  JO N E S : The  m o tio n  passes .8

---------------------------------9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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R E P O R T E R 'S  C E R T IF IC A T E1

2
S T A T E  O F  T E N N E S S E E :

:  S S .3
C O U N T Y O F H A M ILT O N :

4

I ,  Lo ri A . R obe rson , L ic en sed  and  Ce r tif ie d  5
Cou rt R epo rte r, th e  o ff ic e r  be fo re  w hom the  fo rego ing  
pub lic hea rin g  w a s taken , do  he reby  ce r tify  th a t the  6
pub lic hea rin g  w a s taken  by  m e  in  m a ch ine  sho rthand  and  
th e rea fte r  redu ced  to  typew r itin g ; th a t th e  sa id  pub lic  7
hea rin g  is  a  true  re co rd ; 

8
Tha t I  a m  ne ith e r cou nse l fo r, re la ted  to , no r  

em p loyed  by  any  o f th e  pa r tie s to th is a ction  in  w h ich  9
th is pub lic hea ring  w a s taken , and  fu r the r  tha t  I  am not  
a  re la tiv e  o r  em p loyee  o f any  a tto rney  o r  counse l 10
em p loyed  by  the  pa r tie s  he re to , no r f in an c ia lly o r 
o the rw ise  in te res ted  in  th e ou tcom e  o f th is a ct io n ;11

Tha t the  sa id  pub lic hea r ing  ha s  in  no  m anne r 12
been  changed  o r a lte red  s ince  sam e w as  g iv en , bu t th a t 
th e  sam e  has  r em a ined  in  m y  possess ion  up  to  the  t im e o f 13
de liv e ry .

14
In w itn ess  w he reo f, I h ave  he reun to  s e t m y 

hand  th is  17 th  day  o f N ovem be r, 20 2 5 .15

16

17

18
 _ ___
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